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funds to construct a new library. That the officers
of the Association decided to recommend under-
taking this project on the day that Germany in-
vaded Poland has always been a source of great
pride. It would have been easy to postpone the
campaign until the affairs of the world were more
stable. The University would have been without
this most important facility for almost another
decade. The campaign, like all previous and sub-
sequent Alumni projects, was successful and by
the time our country became involved in World
War II, the exterior of the new library had been
completed.

The effect of the war was felt in every
program of the University. A few activities were
dropped, some curtailed, and others expanded to
meet war-time needs in instruction, research, and
extension. An accelerated program for civilian
students was adopted. (During one 15-month
period six commencement exercises were held.)
Special training programs for military units and
defense workers were provided.

By the fall of 1944, regular students numbered
only 911, of whom 269 were men. The women
students admirably carried on student activities
and helped to maintain cherished University tra-
ditions.

Even as programs were being adjusted to meet
war responsibilites, plans were being laid for the
accommodation of an influx of students which
seemed inevitable, once hostilities had been con-
cluded. This planning proved to be timely and
useful. The close of the war brought a flood of
applications for admission to colleges and univer-
sities. Former students wished to return, and
many who had gone directly from secondary
schools into the armed services were eager to
begin collegiate study.

The University, as a State institution, recog-
nized that it owed a special obligation to the
war veterans of Maine. Early in 1946 it became
evident that, even with existing facilities taxed
to the utmost, the University could not enroll all
the qualified veterans and recent high school
graduates who would seek admission. Plans were
speeded therefore, for teaching and housing 3,200
students on the Orono campus, an increase of
more than 50% over the highest prewar enroll-
ment. Arrangements were also made to accommo-
date 800 veterans at the Naval Air Base in Bruns-
wick, which after prolonged negotiations was

made available. This “Annex” was operated for
three years, offering freshman courses for a total
of about 2,400 men, most of whom continued
upper class studies at Orono. The Brunswick
project was helped immeasurably by the coopera-
tion of the president and faculty of Bowdoin Col-
lege, a timely and tangible evidence of the close
and friendly relations that exist between the pri-
vate colleges of Maine and the State University.

Prior to the war, the trustees envisioned a
maximum enrollment of 2,500 students. The ex-
perience of having to provide for a postwar en-
rollment of 5,000, at the peak, a study of high
school enrollments, and trends in applications
made this figure unrealistic. A faculty committee
appointed to study future enrollment prospects
found that in 1936, 2.4% of Maine’s population
of 18-year-olds entered the University as fresh-
men. By 1956 this figure had risen to 6.2%,
and it was estimated that there would be 56%
more 18-year-olds in 1965 than in 1955. The
committee recommended that the University
should be ready to enroll 6,000 students by 1965
and 7,500 by 1970.

Although the transition from war to peace and
problems of rapid growth demanded much atten-
tion during the 1950’s, the University continued
to strengthen and expand its educational and re-
search programs, and broaden its public services.
A number of urgently needed buildings were con-
structed: dormitories, classrooms, and laborato-
ries. Particularly gratifying was the addition of
the beautiful Memorial Union Building, a gift of
2lumni, students, faculty, and friends which hon-
ors University of Maine men who sacrificed their
lives in the service of their country.

Another highlight of the 1950’s was the open-
ing of a branch of the University in Portland. This
significant extension of the University’s services in
resident instruction became possible when the
trustees of the Portland Junior College generous-
ly turned over the resources of that institution to
help establish the “University. of Maine in Port-
land.”

In my Biennial Report for 1949-1950, I wrote
several paragraphs under the heading, “Enduring
Values.” It seems appropriate to repeat them in
these brief comments written for the 100th An-
niversary of the founding of the University of
Maine:

“A university is much more than a collection



